From: Johnston. Sarah

To: Defillipo, Anthony; Smukler, Fortuna; Kramer, Barbara; Villard. Paule; Fleurimond. McKenzie; Joseph.Michael;
Smith, Phyllis

Cc: Scott, Esmond; Bernard, Andrise; Amole, Shade; McHugh.Horace A.; Davis, Berta A.; Ragoonan, Sharon

Subject: term limits repeated inquiries

Date: Friday, February 7, 2020 2:41:00 PM

Attachments: DOC075.pdf

Re_ Probable vacancy in Martell seat.pdf

WS email and opinion.pdf

text messages between JO and JS.PDF

Term limit opinions and notes.pdf

RE_NMB eligible mayoral candidates.pdf

Sec. 4.2 Election and Term of Commission Members. (1).doc

Good Afternoon Mayor and Commissioners,

| want to ensure all of you have the same information and provide some clarity on what appears to
be inaccurate information. Over the last year and a half there has been numerous inquiries, public
records requests and false allegations surrounding term limits.

Attached is emails, text messages, memorandums analyzing the current and former Charter
language, and current Charter language which provide clarity on this issue. In the emails and text
messages between the former City Attorney and outside counsel Jean Olin, it is evident that there
was a lot of consideration of term limits, vacating seats, and the definition of a term for the purposes
of a term limit. Additionally, there is a text message discussion regarding a former elected official
and his ability (or not) to run for office in November 2018 and again in November 2020, this
conversation and analysis is consistent with the analysis on the current Mayor, specifically see the
text messages sent on 1/28/2018. | have also attached a memorandum analyzing current Mayor
Anthony F. DefFillipo his length of service, the term limits and current charter language which make it
clear that he is eligible to run for office from Group 1 in November 2020.

If there are specific questions not answered in the attached please contact me.
Thank you.

Sarah L. Johnston
City Attorney

17011 NE 19th Avenue
North Miami Beach, FL 33162
T: (305) 948-2939 x. 2303
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CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
Phone: (305) 948-2939
Fax: (305) 787-6004

TO:

CC:

Mayor Anthony F. DeFillipo

Esmond K. Scott, City Manager
Andrise Bernard, City Clerk

FROM: Sarah L. Johnston, City Attorne@'—
DATE: February 4, 2020

RE: Group 1-term limit opinions and public records requests

As previously discussed, there have been several inquiries and public records requests
regarding the North Miami Beach Charter amendments approved in 2016 and their
impact on the term limits for Group 1. In June, 2019 I engaged Robert Meyers,
outside counsel with Weiss Serota Helfman Cole & Bierman, P.L to opine on the
matter. | have included his opinion below and I have attached additional documents
consistent with the opinion.

Please find the following information attached for your records.

Emails dated June 21, 2019 and June 24, 2019 between Sarah Johnston
andRobert Meyers;

Scanned copies of handwritten notes and current Charter language showing
analysis of term limits for Group 1;

Jean Olin’s legal opinion from March 24, 2016, analyzing the former charter
language and term limits; and

Emails and proposed charter language between Jose Smith and Jean Olin
discussing proposed ballot language and the impact upon term limits with any
charter changes.

Opinion from Robert Meyers, included in the email dated June 24, 2019;





Anthony DeFillipo currently serves as Mayor and was elected in
November 2018 to fill a vacancy for the term ending in November
2020. Prior to his election to Group 1, he was elected from Group 2
in May 2013 and served in this capacity until November 2018. The
Mayor is considering running for the Group 1 seat in November 2020
and wishes to know whether the term limits provision in the City
Charter bars his election in 2020.

Section 4-2 sets forth the election and terms of the members of the
City Commission. Section 4-2(b) establishes terms limits for elected
officials of no more than two consecutive four-year terms. An elected
official who serves more than 50% of a term is considered to have
served a full term. Since Mayor DeFillipo will not have served two
consecutive four-year terms when his term as Mayor ends in
November 2020, it is necessary to review Section 4-2(c), which also
covers term limits, and cites members who are elected to two
consecutive terms. According to 4-2(c), if one of the consecutive terms
served by a member does not exceed the 50% provision, then the
member may be elected to one additional term.

In the Mayor’s case, he was elected to two consecutive terms - May
2013 and November 2018, respectively. One of the two terms
(November 2018—November 2020) does not exceed 50% of the
subject term. Consequently, the Mayor would be eligible to run
for office from Group 1 in November 2020, as this would amount
to his one additional term, which is specifically permitted by 4-
2(c) of the City Charter.






From: jean olin

To: Jose Smith; Pamela.Latimore@citynmb.com
Cc: Moya Denham.Maria

Subject: Re: Probable vacancy in Martell seat

Date: Friday, March 16, 2018 10:59:35 AM

PS—Pam, wait to speak w/DOE till Comm’er Martell actually submits her resignation (we need to see effective
date).

Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended
recipient(s) and may contain CONFIDENTIAL or PRIVILEGED information. Any unauthorized review, use,
disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e-
mail and immediately destroy all copies of the original message and all attachments.

> On Mar 16, 2018, at 10:57 AM, jean olin <jeanolin.munilaw@gmail.com> wrote:

>

> Since quorum is 5, need to fill this vacancy promptly.

> Same process per Charter section 4.5—Clerk needs to let COE know that this Group 7 seat will be on this
November’s ballot (in addition to Groups 2,4,6). (Clerk has already informed DOE that Group 5 (Pierre) is
expected to be on this November ballot.)

>

> Jose—please let me know if you’d like me to prepare brief memo re: Group 7 vacancy for next CC agenda.

>

> Jean

>

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

>

>

>> On Mar 16, 2018, at 10:45 AM, Smith, Jose <Jose.Smith@citynmb.com> wrote:

>>

>>

>>

>>

>> Begin forwarded message:

>>

>>> From: "Vallejo, George" <George.Vallejo@citynmb.com>

>>> Date: March 16, 2018 at 10:40:01 AM EDT

>>> To: "Garcia, Ana" <Ana.Garcia@citynmb.com>, "Smith, Jose" <Jose.Smith@citynmb.com>, "Latimore,
Pamela™ <Pamela.Latimore@citynmb.com>

>>> Cc: "Gomez, Nicole" <Nicole.Gomez@citynmb.com>

>>> Subject: Probable vacancy in Martell seat

>>>

>>> Hij all,

>>>

>>> As you know, last hight Comm. Martell was offered the position of City Manager of North Bay Village. We
need to prepare to fill the anticipated vacancy that will occur once she resigns her Commission seat in order to be
appointed CM there. Although she has not resigned as of yet, it is likely to happen quickly. Without her, our
Commission would be left with a minimum for a quorum and any absence would paralyze the City and keep us from
carrying out The People's business.

>>>

>>> Therefore, | would like this topic added to the agendas of both upcoming Commission meetings next week.
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The agenda item should be written to permit the Commission to take whatever action is necessary to appoint
someone to fill the vacancy should it occur as expected. Mr. City Attorney & Mdme. Clerk, please verify that any
required notice provisions are met so that the Commission can act during those meetings if it so chooses. Madame
Clerk, please provide me with all information and minutes regarding the process utilized when Councilman Julien
resigned-to-run. | also suggest you notify each of the persons who applied for the Seat 5 vacancy so they are aware
and can make it known if they are interested in this vacancy or not.

>>>

>>> Please make my colleagues aware of my request and copy them with all information you provide me. | want all
of us ready and able to carry out our duties under the Charter. Thank you.

>>>

>>> \Warmest regards,

>>>

>>> George Vallejo

>>> Mayor

>>>

>>> For immediate assistance contact:

>>> 305-948-2986

>>> Nicole Gomez, Chief of Staff

>>> nicole.gomez@citynmb.com

>






Johnston, Sarah

From: Robert Meyers <RMeyers@wsh-law.com>
Sent: Friday, June 21, 2019 3:20 PM

To: Johnston, Sarah

Subject: RE: term limits

That’s fine. Can you call me on my cell?

From: Johnston, Sarah [Sarah.Johnston@citynmb.com)
Sent: Friday, June 21, 2019 2:38 PM

To: Robert Meyers

Subject: RE: term limits

I should be available around noon if that works?

Sarah L. Johnston

City Attorney

City of North Miami Beach
17011 NE 19th Avenue

North Miami Beach, FL 33162
T: (305) 948-2939 x. 2303

-----0riginal Message-----

From: Robert Meyers [mailto:RMeyers@wsh-law.com]
Sent: Friday, June 21, 2019 2:34 PM

To: Johnston, Sarah <Sarah.Johnston@citynmb.com>
Subject: RE: term limits

Hi Sarah:

Can we talk on Monday? If so, let me know what time works for you. | have a conference call at 11, but | should be
available the rest of the day.

Thanks,

Robert

From: Johnston, Sarah [Sarah.Johnston@citynmb.com]
Sent: Friday, June 21, 2019 2:25 PM

To: Robert Meyers

Cc: Brett J. Schneider

Subject: term limits

Good Afternoon Robert,

When you have a chance can we discuss the below and attached provision?





[Logo]
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THINK BEFORE YOU PRINT

This message, together with any attachments, is intended only for the addressee. It may contain information which is
legally privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, use, or any action or reliance on this communication is strictly prohibited. If
you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately by telephone or by return e-mail and delete
the message, along with any attachments.

Pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, this communication is from a debt collector. Any information
obtained will be used for the purpose of collecting a debt.

PLEASE NOTE: The City of North Miami Beach is a public entity subject to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes concerning
public records. E-mail messages are covered under such laws and thus subject to disclosure. All e-mail sent and received
is captured by our servers and kept as public record.





Article IV. - Election of City Commission Members

Sec. 4.1 - General/Runoff Elections.

Commencing in 2018, general elections in the City of North Miami Beach shall be heid every even-

numbered year on the first Tuesday following the first Monday in November. Candidates to office under
this charter shall be elected by a majority of the votes cast in the election. If no candidate receives a
majority of the votes cast for the office to be filled, then the two (2) candidates receiving the highest
number of votes for such office shall be voted upon in a runoff election to be held two weeks from the
date of the general election and the candidate receiving a majority of the votes in such runoff election
shall be declared elected. In the event of a tie vote in any run-off election, the outcome shall be
determined by lot. In order to accomplish the election date revision made pursuant to this Charter section,
the four-year term length of office that is provided for in Charter section 4.2 shall be extended on the
following limited basis: the term of office of the Mayor and of Commissioner groups 3, 5, and 7, which
would otherwise expire in May 2018 shall instead expire in November 2020, and the terms of office of
Commissioner groups 2, 4, and 6, which would otherwise expire in May 2017 shall instead expire in
November 2018.

Sec. 4.2 - Election and Term of Commission Members.

A

The members of the City Commission shall be elected from groups numbered One through Seven.
The groups shall be elected Citywide by the qualified electors of the City of North Miami Beach. The
member in Group One shall be the Mayor. At the City's general election on the first Tuesday after the
first Monday in November 2018 and at each general election every four years thereafter, the
members of City Commission running from groups 2, 4, and 6 shall be elected for four (4) year
terms. At the City's general election on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November 2020
and at each general election every four years thereafter, the members of City Commission running
from groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 shall be elected for four (4) year terms.

Commencing with the 2011 general elections for groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 and with the 2013 general
elections for groups 2, 4, and 6, no person may serve as Commissioner or Mayor or any combination
thereof for more than two consecutive four-year terms, not including time served as a member of the
Commission as a result of having filled a vacancy in the Commission pursuant to Section 4.5 of the
North Miami Beach City Charter so long as such time served in filling a vacancy does not exceed
50% of that subject term. Service by a Commission member in excess of 50% of any term of office
{including those terms provided for in Charter Section 4.1) shall be considered a full term for
purposes of the term limit provisions in this section. After being out-of-office for two (2) years, he/she
may run again. Members of the Commission shall serve until their successors are elected and
qualified.

Notwithstanding the above, if a person is elected to 2 consecutive terms and has not met the term
limit under the 50% provision in subsection B, he/she may only be elected to one additional term
{regardless of that person's length of service in that additional term) for completion of that particular
term limit, after which time or unless he/she is out of office for 2 years in which case he/she may run
again for the term limit.

Sec. 4.3 - Qualification of Commission Members.

Candidates for the office of Mayor and Commissioner of the City of North Miami Beach shall qualify

with the Clerk of the City not prior to the seventy-eighth day preceding the election provided for in Section
4.1 hereof nor later than 12:00 noon on the seventy-third (73) day preceding the election. A candidate
shall qualify by taking and subscribing to an cath that she/he is qualified under the charter of the City of
North Miami Beach to hold the office of Commissioner and Mayor and by paying to said Clerk a qualifying
fee in the amount of four (4%) percent of the annual salary of the office, which fee shall be deposited in
the general fund of the City. Candidates for the office of City Commission member shall designate the
group from which they desire to be elected. Each candidate, at the time of qualifying with the Clerk, shall
designate a campaign treasurer and a depository of campaign funds. Each candidate, at the time of





Johnston, Sarah

From: Robert Meyers <RMeyers@wsh-law.com>
Sent: Monday, June 24, 2019 4:31 PM

To: Johnston, Sarah (Sarah.Johnston@citynmb.com)
Subject: Term Limit Question

Attachments: nmb.termlimitsmayor.docx

Hi Sarah:

Per our discussion, attached please find a brief memorandum on your term limits question.
Please contact me should you wish to discuss.
Thanks,

Robert

Robert Meyers

TR
|
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THINK BEFORE YOU PRINT

This message, together with any attachments, is intended only for the addressee. It may contain informaticn which is legally privileged, confidential
and exempt from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution, use, or any
action or reliance on this communication is strictly probibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately by
telephone or by return e-mail and delete the message, along with any attachments.

Pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, this communication is from a debt collector. Any information obtained will be used for the
purpose of collecting a debt.

PLEASE NOTE: The City of North Miami Beach is a public entity subject to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes concerning
public records. E-mail messages are covered under such laws and thus subject to disclosure. All e-mail sent and received
is captured by our servers and kept as public record.





Anthony DefFillipo currently serves as Mayor and was elected in November 2018 to fill a vacancy for the
term ending in November 2020. Prior to his election to Group 1, he was elected from Group 2 in May
2013 and served in this capacity until November 2018. The Mavyor is considering running for the Group 1
seat in November 2020 and wishes to know whether the term limits provision in the City Charter bars his
election in 2020.

Section 4-2 sets forth the election and terms of the members of the City Commission. Section 4-2(b)
establishes terms limits for elected officials of no more than two consecutive four-year terms. An elected
official who serves more than 50% of a term is considered to have served a full term. Since Mayor DeFillipo
will not have served two consecutive four-year terms when his term as Mayor ends in November 2020, it
is necessary to review Section 4-2(c), which also covers term limits, and cites members who are elected
to two consecutive terms. According to 4-2(c), if one of the consecutive terms served by a member does
not exceed the 50% provision, then the member may be elected to one additional term.

In the Mayor’'s case, he was elected to two consecutive terms — May 2013 and November 2018,
respectively. One of the two terms (November 2018 —November 2020} does not exceed 50% of the
subject term. Consequently, the Mayor would be eligible to run for office from Group 1 in November
2020, as this would amount to his one additional term, which is specifically permitted by 4-2(c) of the City
Charter.






I'lt email you in Fesy minutes the Sunny lsles
Charter provision

1127 2018 2:41:30 PM

Just emailed you above

1 28 2018 80217 AV

Jose--Good morning. | was thinking about what
you asked me yestercday re: elaction to fill vacancy
would ba in November not August of this year.
That made me think of the term limit languagz in
Charier section 4-2 B, saying in relevant part
"Service by a Commission member in excess of 50+
of any term of office {including those terms
provided for in Charter Section 4.1 shall be
considered a full term for purposes of tha term
lirmit provisions in this section.” Since per Charter
ssction 4.1 the tarm of officz for Comm Croun 5
vas extendad to expire on November 3 2020, that
means tnat 50 of Grp 5 s=at shall occur on
February 3 2018--since the vacancy howavar is as
of January 17 of this year that means Comm'r
Fierre has not sarved 5307 of his term-- -and sinc
ke hasn't servad 507 of his term, t7as maans that
he wouldr't have met tne term limit. 30, he'd be
able ta run for election to fill the rema ~dzr of this
s8ar £715 Novamber (since THAT tarm o7 office
comrigncing Novembar 2018 will bz farony, 2
y2ars, and that wil not count as having sz~vad 2
‘term’ b ¢ those 2 years will not “excead 50 of
tha term of office”. Bottom line: FP cou'd run for
elzction this November (to fill the ramaining 2
yaars of that term, and could aiso run for the full
tarm term for Grp 5 tn Novembar 2020 and again
a Novembar 2024,

i

1 25 201880418 AM

Y3 e would've met his tarm I mit s Novembsr
2020 kad he not vacated his presant term.

1 28 2318 & 04 47 AM





Above just FYl. Have a good day.

1282018 4:21:30 PM

Jose, f2t's discuss above when convenient—-| just
tocked at my notes from CRC when Charter section
4.2 was amended, and I think | misspoke above
Inok at tha final paragraph of 4.2,

1282018 4:27:49 PM

We wrote this fina! paragraph to address the De
Filipo situation when he was asking about running
for Mayor term firmits,

1 26 2018 4.31.15PM

1 28 2018 4 3329 PM

for term hmits where a CC resigns b 4
ha's sgrved 50°: of a term in ordar to avoid having
t

CC to run for Mayor the followng election cycle.

128 2018 4:35:54 PM

Confusing

e e S e
TR e,
)

25 2018 4 36 40 PM





That'll support the legal op, good Jose.

1 28 2018 4:38:05 PM

I think it light of this 1ast paragraph of Ch. 4.2 that
if FP runs for the Group 5 vacancy this November
2018 he will have then met his term Iimit as of the
November 2020 election, and would than have to
sit out 2 years b 4 being able to run again.

1 28 2018 43545 PM

Thus is parucularly confusing b ¢ of the time that's
passed since we last had CRC but we should talk, if
the issUE comes up.

1 28 2018 4:38 56 PM

b 28 2018 442 38 PV

Tris s what have in my not2s from whan this was
written "The intent of this languags is to close the
loopnole whereby & person who has baen elacred
a2 consacuive terms could invees 30 rula and
kezp running for office indzfinte 'y so long as

g sne rzsigns before 507 of futurz terms saryad.
So. this provides tnat if a persor has baan elected
10 2 consecuthe terms and hasn't mat tarm limit

ol ]

per 50% rule, than so long as therz's a 2 year gap
b 2 running agz'n that person has not met term
limit and may start over---but, if tnere's not 2 year
gap from dats of [237 service to rew t2rm than that
naw tarm will effzctively b2 consderad tnat
person's final "szcond consscutva term” and term
et wall have besn met {regard 235 of the SQ‘.
raleg,”

4

1 28 201532312 PM





Jose-- let's speak about this when convenient
there could be argument that FP could saerve
beyond 2020, we should discuss just in case
someone asks.

1/28/2018 523 55 PM

O

1/28/2018 5:26:26 PM

When you want me to call, just let me
know. Thanks.

1/28/20185:27.21 PM

Nead to work on ADA. We'll talk tomorron
afternoon

1:28 2018527 43 PM

129 201890450 AM

1 29 2018 90551 AM

129 2018900 13 AM
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1129 201892252 AM

Just emailed you cases. Also Jose, I've reviewed
Charter sections we discussed yesterday and have
confirmed FP could run in Nov 2018 for the 2 year
vacancy seat, and could also run in 2020 and 2024
for the Grp 5 seat,

1/29:2018 9 26:25 AM

Goodl to know but nobody 15 going to ask ahout it

129 2018 9.27.02 AM

Undzrstood- -§)

i 28 2018458258 PN

5 mins

129 2018 45846 PM

21 2018 735493 PM
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Memo

To: Jose Smith, North Miami Beach City Attorney
From: Jean K. Olin, Esqg.
Date: March 24, 2016

Re: North Miami Beach Charter Section 22—Flecied Official’s Completion of a “Term™.

Pursuant to your request, [ have researched the issue of when a member of the North Miami Beach City
Council will have met Charter section 22's term limit of “8 consecutive years”. Specifically, your question
involves a scenario in which a Councilperson who will have served | 'z consecutive terms in office (i.e.. 6
consecutive years) as of May 2019 resigns from his seat afier having served only 2 years of his second term, in
order to run that year as a candidate for the office of Mayor in the City’s May 2019 General Election. As explained
more fully below, the legislative intent behind Charter section 22 and relevant case law leads to the conclusion
that the subject term limit will have been met, preventing the Councilperson from seeking election to another term
on the Council until no earlier than the City's General Flection in 2021.

1. Factual Background.

In May of 2009, the voters of the City of North Miami Beach adopted several changes to the City’s Charter,
including the following amendments to Charter section 22 for the purpose of establishing for all members of the
City Council a 4-year term of office and a term limit of 8 consecutive years:

Commencing with the city elections o be held in May 2011, and at each general election each four (4) years
thereafter, the members of city council running from groups 1, 3. 5, and 7 shall be elected for four (d4) year
terms.

Commencing with the city elections to be held in May 2013, and at cach general election each four (3) years
thereafier, the members of city council running from groups 2. 4. and 6 shalt be elected for four {(4) year
terms.

Commencing with the May 2011 elections for groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 and with the May 2013 elections for
groups 2, 4, and 6, no person may serve as councilperson or mayor or any combination thereof for more
than eight (8) consecutive years in office, not including time served as a member of the Council as a resuit
of having filled & vacancy in the council pursuant to Section 19 of the North Miami Beach City Charter. A fter
being out-of-office for two (2) years, he/she may run again.

(Emphasis added.) In May 2013, Councilperson Anthony F. DeFillipo wus elected to a four-year term as Cily
Councilperson (term ending in 2017). Councitperson DeFillipo has asked whether, asswning he sceks reelection
to his Council seat and is reelected at the City's 2017 General Election, he may become a candidate in the City’s
2019 General Election for the office of Mayor (with the understanding that he would need 0 resign from his
Councilperson seat prior to qualifying for such Office'). Commissioner DeFillipo’s request for opinion is
premised upon his understanding that the City Charter contains no express provision which disqualifies a
Councilperson who has resigned from his seat hatfway through his second term from serving another Council

! See, Florida Statute section 99.012 (3)a): “No officer may qualify as a candidate for another state, district, county, or
municipal public affice if the terms or any part thereof run concurrently with each other without resigning from the office
he ar she presently holds”. {Emphasis added.) Inasmuch as any resignation filed 1s wrrevocable (Fla Stat. sec. 39.012 (3)(b)),
Commissioner DeFillipo thus seeks clarification of the subject 135ue.





ternt immediately thereafter without having to be “out of office for two years™, as specified in Charter section 22
above.

[I. Legal Analysis.

The law establishes a presumption in favor of eligibility to run for office, and such presumption will
contro! unless the City Charter provides otherwise. See, City of Miami Beach v. Richard, 173 So.2d 480 (Fla.
3DA 1965); Hurt v. Naples, 299 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1974), and Ervin v. Coflins, 85 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 1956). The
City Charter does currently provide otherwise, and as such, Commissioner DeFillipo may not run for a third
consecutive term of office in 2019.

The principal issue presented is the proper construction to be given to Charter section 22. Inasmuch as the
Cily’s charter is its constitution, a voter-approved amendment to the City charter is interpreted using theories of
statutory construction®. If the language is clear and unambiguous, there ordinarily is no need for construction.
Diamond Aireraft Industries, Inc. v. Horowitch, 107 So. 3d 362, 367 (Fla. 2013). See State v. Burris, 875 S0.2d
408, 410 (Fla.2004) (citing Lee County Elec. Coap., Inc. v. Jacobs, 820 So0.2d 297, 303 (Fla.2002); “When a
statute is clear, we do not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory
construction to ascertain intent.” It is presumed that the voters intended the meaning apparent on the face of the
measure, and the inquiry ends. However, the Courts will not presume that the lawmakers (here, the voters)
intended the literal construction of a law if that construction would result in absurd consequences. Public Citizen
v. US Dept of Justice 491 US. 440, 470-71. 109 5.Ci. 25358, 105 L.d.2d 377 (1989); and State v. facovone,
660 So.2d 1371, 1373 (Fla. 19935).

The opinion set forth herein supports that the plain language of the Charier does not permit an exception from
Charter section 22's term limit for situations in which a person’s actual service on the Council is less than 8
consecutive years'. Although the Charter’s plain language is controlling, it is worth noling that an isolated reading
of Charter section 22's “8 consecutive years” term limit language would permit any member of the Council who
does not serve on the Council for 8 consecutive years in its entirety (either voluntarily via resignation or death,
or involuntarily via removal from office) to continue seeking office ad infinitum, which in turn would result in
continued vacancies on the Comniission necessitating continued appointments andfor costly special elections to
fill such vacant Council positions, as well as create potential intervening lack of quonuns whereby the Council
would be completely disabled. Thus, if such literal meaning of the term limit tanguage were applied, a Council
Member could in theory resign effective one day before completing his *8 consecutive years™ in office, and seek
reelection at the immediately succeeding City election—as presented below, the language of the Charter and Code,
when read together, belie such absurd consequence.

A. City Charter and Code."

In addition to establishing a *“4-year term™ with a term limit of “8 consecutive years”, Charter Section 22
further provides that:

* The rules of statutory construction are applicable to municipal ordinances and to the provisions of a cily charter. Great
Outdoors Trading, Inc. v. City of High Springs, 550 So. 2d 483, 485 (Fla. 1st DCA [989).

* It should be noted that the City Attomney’s Office has reviewed the City's legislative record concerning the term limit
Charter amendment, and has found no record support suggesting that such limit would not apply in those mstances in which
a C'ouncil Member has resigned from office prior to cxpiration of his term.

¥ Provisions of the City Charter and Code relating to the same thing or class of things must be regarded together in examining
its interpretation. See Stare ex rel. Harris v. Bowden, 150 So, 259 (Fla. 1933), Whiddon v, State, 32 S0.2d 577 (Fla. 1947).
and Sanders v. State ex rel. Shamrock Properties. Inc., 46 S0.2d 491 (Fla. 1950}, finding that related laws must be examined
in pari materig for purposes of determining their meaning.





Members of the council shall serve until their successors are elected and qualified®. A candidate for the
office of city councilman shall at the time of qualifying for the election and at the time of election be a qualified
elector of the City of North Miami Beach, and shall not, within five years next preceding the date of his
qualification, have been convicted in this or any other state of any offense involving moral turpitude.”

(Emphasis added.) Charter section 22 thus reflects on its face that a Council Member is entitled by virtue of his
office to serve until his successor is “elected and qualified”. This language is consistent with Charter section 16,
which plainly states that a Council Member's term of oftice terminates when his successor is elected.

... The term of office of members of the council shall commence with the declaration of the eleclion results
on the third Tuesday of May of the year in which the councilman was elected and shall terminate with
the declaration of the results of the election of a successor on the second Tuesday it May in the year in
which such successor, including any councilman elected to office, was elected as provided in this
charter.

(Emphasis added.)

B. City's Term Limit: No “Partial Service” Exception.

At the outset, it must be noted that there is a distinction between a term of office and the tenure of an
officeholder. A term of office is the fixed or definite period of time which the law prescribes that an officer may
lhold an office, while the tenure of a person holding an office consists of the amount of time actually served by
that person, and may thus vary from the term of the office. See, 67 C.).S. Officers § 137-138". Sce, also see, 67
CJS 156: “Since the term of an office is distinct from the tenure of an officer, such term of office 1s not affected
[for example] by the holding over of an incumbent beyond the expiration of the lerm for which he or she was
appointed”; and see Fla. AGO 78-72, recognizing that a term of office is not affected by the ofticcholder’s lawful
holdover/tenure of such olfice. Accordingly, it follows that just as holding over in office (i.e., see above excepls
of Charter sections 16 and 22) does not extend a Council Member's term, neither does leaving office early affect
a Council Member’s term--the plain language of the Charter supports this.

The plain language of the City Charter discloses that there are only two exceptions to Charter section 22’
term limit: 1) terms commencing prior to the May, 2011 City elections; and 2) time served as a result of filling a
vacancy on the Council--there arc no provisions that exempt partial service of a term from the Charter’s definition
of a “term limit” (or from the definition of “term™). Nor does Charter section 16's language (establishing when
a term ends) include any such exception for partial service of a term’. Based upon the principle of expressio unius

* In Spence-Jones v Dunn, 118 S0.3d 261 (Fla. 3DCA 2013), a city commissioner who had been absent from office during
her second term {as a result of suspension from office). was deemed ineligible for reelection to a third consecutive term,
based upon a city charter provision prohibiting further terms in officc once an official had been “elected and qualitied for
two consecutive full terms™, with the Court having determined that the commissioner had in fact been elected to a full term
and during that period of tiume (regardless of whether she was in office) met all of the qualifications specified for such office.
The Spence-Jones ruling, although seemingly dispositive, does not upply herein because the Charter’s term limut language
at 1ssue in that case was expressly premised upon the commissioner being “clected and qualified™ throughout her term of
office, whereas North Miami Beach's Charter reference to “clected and qualified” does not modify the term limit language
but rather is hrmited in application to the candidate being “elected and qualified” (i.c., holdover of incumbent until his
successor is “elected and qualificd”).

® The City Clerk has confirmed that this language in Charter section 22 as well as Charter section 16 predated the subject
2009 amcndments.

" Inasmuch as Charter section 16 predated the subject 2009 amendments, it is apparent the drafters of the term limit provision
intended that restriction to be read in context with Charter 16°s language. See, Hollar v. International Bankers Ins Co.. 5372
S0.2d 937 (Fla. 3DCA 1990) {Legislature is presumed to know cxisting law at time that it enacts statute); and Dickinson v
Davis, 224 So 2d 262 (Fla. 1969).
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est exclusio allerius—the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another—the Charter’s plain
language must be honored and its construction not allow such exception to the term limit provision. See, Dabbs
v. Sea Isle Hotel, 56 S0.2d 341 (Fla. 1952); State ex rel, Judicial Qualifications Comumission v. Rose, 286 S0.2d
562 (Fla. 1973); Interlachen Lakes Estates, Inc. v. Snyder, 304 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1974); and Thayer v. State, 335
So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976). If the Charter’s term limit was intended to except the partial service of a Councilmember,
the drafters could have inserted such an exception, but they did not.® By clear contrast, the drafters of the 2009
Charter amendments decided that a partial term exception would apply in the limited case of a
Councilmember's insurance benefits, as set forth in Charter section 26

...Insurance bene(its provided to members of city council shall only be paid for by the city during their actual
term of service. After their term of service, councilpersons may be offered the opporaunity to remain in the
city's insurance plan(s) at their own expense. This provision shall not affect continuing city council benefits
previously cstablished and available to active or former members of city council elec:ed for at least one (1)
term of oftice prior to the election of May 2009,

(Emphasis added.) By its use of the words “actual term of service”, Charter section 26 is distinguished from the
remainder Charter sections at issue by specifically and expressly limiting insurance benefits to an elected official’s
time-served (as opposed to authorizing such benefits for terms regardless of a Councilmember’s “actual” service).
The plain language of Charler section 26°, compared to the remainder 2009 Charter amendments establishing
term and term limits, thus further supports the above interpretation that a Councilmember's partial service of term
(i.e., “actual” service) was never intended to apply to the term/term limit language, particularly in light of the fact
that all of these Charter amendments were adopted at the same May S, 2009 Election and they are cach capable
of simultaneous effect'”.

[{I. Conclusion.

Under the above analysis and given the facts provided, the existing North Miam Beach City Charter
language would not allow City Commissioner DeFillipo to seck election to another term on the City Coungil until
the City’s General Election in 2021,

As a policy matter, the City Council may, in its discretion, choose to consider a Charter amendment
whereby a Council Member’s partial service would be exempt from the City’s term limit, which policy would be
implemented via a voter-approved Charter amendment providing as such'' for example, such Charter language
exists in the City of Miami Beach’s Charter section 2.02, providing in relevant part: ““ .. Service by a Commission
mentber in excess ol 50 percent of any term ol office shall be considered a fall term for purposes of the tetn limit
provisions in this section.”

¥ The Third District Court of Appeal, in a case involving the City of Miami’s term limit provision {see fn.%5 lereinaboye,
citing Spence-Jones v. Dunn, 118 S0.3d 261 (Fla. 3DCA 2013)), held that such failure to insert linguage in a Charter

rovision “...is telling and evidence of their intent.” Trial opinion, at f.n.#3,

Note: The May 5 2009 ballul yuestion pertaining to this Charter amendment referenced the elimination of “City paid
insurance benefits paid on behalf of Council Members, after their terms of office expire...”, while the corresponding Charter
text expressly provided for payment of such benefits only during a Council Member's “actual term of service™.

" See, e.g., Fla. Stat, sec. 104 re: Statutory Construction: ... Amendments enacted during the same session are in conflict
with each other only to the extent that they cannot be given effect simultaneously”.

" Inasmuch as Charter section 22's term limit is applicable as of the City’s May 201 | election, such amendment would
also apply as of that date, unless stated otherwise.
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Sec. 2.1 - Mayor and Vice-Mayor.

The Mayor shall preside over meetings of the Commission and shall cast his/her vote on any motion,
resolution or ordinance submitted for consideration of the Commission. He/She shall be the titular head of
the government of the City of North Miami Beach and shall represent the City in any function requiring
that the City be represented. He/She shall perform such other duties as may be provided in this Charter.
The Commission shall elect from its membership a Vice-Mayor who shall act in the absence or disability
of the Mayor and who shall exercise the powers of the Mayor when so acting.

Sec. 2.2 - City Commission.

The City Commission shall be composed of seven members, elected as herein provided, one of
whom shall be the Mayor. The Commission shall be the legislative body of the City of North Miami Beach
and shall have power to investigate any phase, function or operation of the City Government in such
manner and at such time as to it shall be deemed necessary to the determination by the Commission of
the public policy of the City. It shall have such other powers as are hereinafter expressly or impliedly set
forth, or inherent in the legislative department of government. Any Commission-appointed officer of the
City of North Miami Beach may be removed by a majority vote of the City Commission.

Sec. 2.5 - Quorum and Attendance of the City Commission.

A quorum of the City Commission at any regular or special meeting shall consist of five members.
Except as otherwise provided herein, the affirmative vote of a majority of the quorum present shall be
required upon any matter submitted for consideration of the Commission. If any Commissioner has failed
to attend a meeting of the City Commission for a period of one hundred and twenty (120) days, the seat
of such Commissioner shall automatically become vacant.

Sec. 2.6 - Powers of the City Commission.

The City Commission shall have the power to adopt ordinances, resolutions, rules for the conduct of
meetings and to take such other action as may be necessary to the full and complete exercise of powers
herein vested in the City Manager and other officers provided for herein. The exercise of any power
enforceable by the imposition of punishment by fine or imprisonment, the appropriation of any money, or
the levy of any tax, shall be by ordinance only. Except as otherwise provided herein, any other power may
be exercised by ordinance or resolution in the discretion of the Commission. The Commission shall
exercise such other powers as are herein authorized. References in this Charter to the City Commission
andfor Commissioners shall include the Mayor unless the context dictates otherwise.

Sec. 2.9 - Prohibitions of the City Commission.

A. Appointment and Removals. Neither the City Commission nor any of its members shall suggest or
recommend any person for appointment or removal by the City Manager for any position under the
exclusive control of the City Manager.

B. Any suggestion or recommendation by the Mayor or any City Commissioner shall constitute
misfeasance in office and grounds for removal from office by recall, as herein provided.

Article IV. - Election of City Commission Members
Sec. 4.1 - General/Runoff Elections.

Commencing in 2018, general elections in the City of North Miami Beach shall be held every even-
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
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shall be declared elected. In the event of a tie vole in any run-off election, the outcome shall be
determined by lot. In order to accomplish the election date revision made pursuant to this Charter section,
the four-year term length of office that is provided for in Charter section 4.2 shall be extended on the
following limited basis: the term of office of the Mayor and of Commissioner groups 3, 5, and 7, which
would otherwise expire in May 2019 shall instead expire in November 2020, and the terms of office of
Commissioner groups 2, 4, and 6, which would otherwise expire in May 2017 shall instead expire in
November 2018.

Sec. 4.2 - Election and Term of Commission Members.

A. The members of the City Commission shall be elected from groups numbered One through Seven.
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

B. Commencing with the 2011 general elections for groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 and with the 2013 general
elections for groups 2, 4, and 6, no person may serve as Commissioner or Mayor or any combination
thereof for more than two consecutive four-year terms, not including time served as a member of the
Commission as a result of having filled a vacancy in themm.s of the
North Miami Beach City Charter so long as such time served in filling a vacancy does not exceed
50% of that subject term. Service by a Commission member in excess of 50% of any term of office
(including those terms provided for in Charter Section 4.1} shall be considered a full term for
purposes of the term limit provisions in this section. After being out-of-office for two (2) years, he/she

may run again. Members of the Commission shall serve until their successors are elected and
qualified.

C. Nolwithstanding the above, if a person is elected to 2 consecutive terms and has not met the term
limit under the 50% provision in subsection B, he/she may only be elected to one additional term
(regardiess of that person's length of service in that additional term) for completion of that particular
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
shall qualify by taking and subscribing to an oath that she/he is qualified under the charter of the City of
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
gualifying with the Clerk, must have continuously resided in the City of North Miami Beach for at least one
(1) full year, shall at the time of qualifying and at the time of election be a qualified elector of the City of
North Miami Beach, and shall not, within five years next preceding the date of his/her qualification, have
been convicted in this or any other state of any offense involving moral turpitude.

Sec. 4.4 - Conduct of Elections; Canvass of Returns, and Commencement of Terms.

A. The City Commission shall provide by ordinance for the conduct of elections, the establishment of
City Hall as a polling place and for the establishment of the City's Canvassing Board.










B. On the second business day immediately following the County Elections Supervisor's issuance of
final election results from the general election, the City Commission shall meet for the purpose of
accepling the returns of such election and ascertaining the results thereof. New officers shall be
declared elected subsequent to the City Commission's acceptance of such final Election returns at
which time the new officers shall be installed and shall enter upon the discharge of their duties. If
however a Run-Off Election is necessary, all new officers shall be declared elected subsequent to
the City Commission's acceptance of final Run-Off Election returns on the second business day
immediately following the County Elections Supervisor's issuance of such final election results, at
which time the new officers shalf be installed and shall enter upon the discharge of their duties, and
at which Commission meeting the Commission shall conduct no other or further business at such
meeting unless by unanimous consent of the quorum present at such meeting.

Sec. 4.5 - Vacancies.

Vacancies in elective offices of the City of North Miami Beach shall be filled by the City Commission
pending the next general election, at which time an election to fill the vacancy shall be held for any
remainder of the unexpired term. Provided, however, that should any vacancy occur more than one year
prior to the next general election, the Commission shall have no power to fill the same; it shall be filled by
a special election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, to be held not less than 35 days nor more
than 90 days after such vacancy has occurred, except that if the vacancy is due to a resignation and a
City or County-wide election is scheduled to be held during the intervening period from the resignation's
filing date with the City Clerk up to and including the resignation's effective date, the special election to fill
the vacancy for the unexpired term as of the resignation's effective date may occur (subject to consent of
the County Elections Department and City's ability to comply with laws concerning time periods for calling
elections) at either such City or County-wide election. Any person who has been appointed or elected to
fill a vacancy due to resignation filed pursuant to Florida Statute section 99.012 shall be installed and take
office following the date the resigning official would take office, if elected; any person who has been
appointed or elected to fill a vacancy due to resignation not filed pursuant to Florida Statute section
99.012 shall be installed and take office following the effective date set forth in said resignation.
Provisions related to a Special Election called pursuant to this section, including the qualifying period,
shall be established in the City Resolution calling the Special Election.
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Sec. 4.1 - General/Runoff Elections. \) N, \(#}4

Commencing in 2018, general elections in the City of North Miami Beach shall be held every even-
numbered year on the first Tuesday following the first Monday in November. Candidates to office under
this charter shall be elected by a majority of the votes cast in the election. If no candidate receives a
majority of the votes cast for the office to be filled, then the two {2) candidates receiving the highest
number of votes for such office shall be voted upon in a runoff election to be held two weeks from the
date of the general election and the candidate receiving a majority of the votes in such runoff election
shall be declared elecled. In the event of a tie vote in any run-off election, the outcome shall be
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

A. The members of the City Comniission shall be elected from groups numbered One through Seven.
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
thereof for, than two consecutivme served as a member of the
Commission as a result of having filled & vacancy in the Commission pursuant to Section 4.5 of the
North Miami Beach City Charter so long as such time served in filli c ol-exceed
50% of that subject term. Service by @ Commission member in excess of 50% of any term of office
(inﬁlﬁr‘ﬁﬁﬂrms provided for in Charter Section 4.1) shall be considered a full term for
purposes of the term limit provisions in this section. After being out-of-office for two (2) years, hefshe

may run again. Members of the Commission shall serve until their successors are elected and
qualified.

C. Notwithstanding the above, if a person is elected to 2 consecutive terms and has not met the term
limit under the 50% provision in subsection B, he/she may only be elected to one additional term
(regardless of that person's length of service in that additional term) for completion of that particular
term limit, after which time or unless he/she is out of office for 2 years in which case he/she may run
again for the term limit.

Sec. 4.5 - Vacancies.

Vacarncies in elective offices of the City of North Miami Beach shall be filled by the City Commission
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
the vacancy for the unexpired term as of the resignation's effective date may occur {subject to consent of
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
appointed or elecled to fill a vacancy due to resignation not filed pursuant to Florida Statute section
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
L. e

From: Johnston, Sarah

Sent: Friday, June 21, 2019 2:25 PM

To: Robert Meyers - Weiss Serota Helfman Cole Bierman 8 Popok {rmeyers@wsh-law.com)
Cc: Brett ). Schneider

Subject: term fimits

Attachments: Article_IV.___Election_of_City_Commission_Members (1).doc

Good Afternoon Robert,
When you have a chance can we discuss the below and attached provision?

* May 2013, Anthony F. DeFillipo was elected to Group 2 — the original term of office was until May 2017, as the
result of a 2016 charter amendment the term was extended until November 2018.

* November 2018, he was elected to Group 1 filling a vacancy-the remaining term ends November 2020 (the
Group 1 term was supposed to be from May 2015 until November 2020-extended from original end date of May
2019.)

I have attached the Charter language governing term limits. Apparently, the former City Clerk may have told some of
the elected officials that there may be an issue with the current Mayor being eligible to run for Group 1 in 2020. Can you
please review and let me know your thoughts?

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
this charter shall be elecled by a majority of the voles cast in the election. If no candidate receives a
majarity of the votes cast for the office to be filled, then the two (2) candidates receiving the highest
number of votes for such office shall be voted upon in a runoff election to be held two weeks from the
date of the general election and the candidate receiving a majority of the votes in such runoff election
shall be declared elected. In the event of a tie vote in any run-off election, the outcome shali be
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

A,

The members of the City Commission shall be elected from groups numbered One through Seven,
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

Commencing with the 2011 general eleclions for groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 and with the 2013 general
elections for groups 2, 4, and 6, no person may serve as Commissioner or Mayor or any combination
thereof for more than two consecutive four-year terms, not including time served as a member of the
Commission as a result of having filled a vacancy in the Commission pursuant to Section 4.5 of the
North Miami Beach City Charter so lang as such time served in filling a vacancy does not exceed
50% of that subject term. Service by a Commission member in excess of 50% of any term of office
{including those terms provided for in Charter Section 4.1) shall be considered a full term for
purposes of the term limit provisions in this section. After being out-of-office for two (2) years, he/she
may run again, Members of the Commission shall serve until their successors are elected and
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





qualifying with the Clerk, must have continuously resided in the City of North Miami Beach for at least one
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
accepting the returns of such election and ascertaining the results thereof. New officers shall be
declared elected subsequent 1o the City Commission's acceptance of such final Election returns at
which time the new officers shall be installed and shall enter upon the discharge of their duties. f
however a Run-Off Election is necessary, all new officers shall be declared elected subsequent to
the City Commission's acceptance of final Run-Off Election returns on the second business day
immediately foliowing the County Elections Supervisor's issuance of such final election results, at
which time the new officers shall be installed and shall enter upon the discharge of their duties, and
at which Commission meeting the Commission shall conduct no other or further business at such
meeting unless by unanimous consent of the quorum present at such meeling.

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
filing date with the City Clerk up to and including the resignation's efiective date, the special election to fill
the vacancy for the unexpired term as of the resignation's effective date may occur (subject to consent of
the County Elections Department and City's ability to comply with laws concerning time periods for calling
elections) at either such City or County-wide election. Any person who has been appointed or elecled to
fill a vacancy due to resignation filed pursuant to Florida Statute section 99.012 shall be installed and take
office following the date the resigning official would take office, if elected; any person who has been
appointed or elected to fill a vacancy due fo resignation not filed pursuant to Florida Statute section
99.012 shall be installed and take office following the effective date set forth in said resignation.
Provisions related {o a Special Election called pursuant to this section, including the qualifying period,
shall be established in the City Resolution calling the Special Election.





Johnston, Sarah
m

From: Robert Meyers <RMeyers@wsh-faw.com>
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
|

ISR

THINK BEFORE YOU PRINT

This message, together with any attachments, is intended only for the addressee. It may cantain information which is legally privileged, confidential
and exempt from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution, use, or any
action ar reliance on this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately by
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










Anthony DeFillipo currently serves as Mayor and was elected in November 2018 to fill a vacancy for the
term ending in November 2020. Prior to his election to Group 1, he was elected from Group 2 in May
2013 and served in this capacity until November 2018. The Mayor is considering running for the Group 1
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
is necessary to review Section 4-2(c}, which also covers term limits, and cites members who are elected
to two consecutive terms. According to 4-2(c), if one of the consecutive terms served by a member does
not exceed the 50% provision, then the member may be elected to one additional term.

In the Mayor’s case, he was elected to two consecutive terms — May 2013 and November 2018,
respectively. One of the two terms (November 2018 —November 2020) does not exceed 50% of the
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

To: M Kazan
Subject: RE: NMB eligible mayoral candidates
Date: Friday, November 22, 2019 5:08:00 PM

Good Afternoon Mr. Kazan,

In accordance with Charter Section 4.2 Election and Term of Commission Members (see language
included below):

¢ Anthony Defillipo is eligible to run for Mayor in November 2020 because this term he is
serving will not exceed 50% of the term.

e Phyllis Smith, because she has served for more than 2 consecutive 4-year terms, is not eligible
to run for Mayor in November 2020, however, upon being out of office for 2 years she would
be eligible to run for any seat.

e Barbara Kramer could be eligible so long as she vacates her current seat with at least 50% of
her current term remaining.

e Fortuna Smukler is eligible to run for Mayor in November 2020 if she vacates her current
term.

e Paule Villard is eligible to run for Mayor in November 2020 if she vacates her current term

¢ McKenzie Fleurimond is eligible to run for Mayor in November 2020

e Michael Joseph is eligible to run for Mayor in November 2020.

Thank you — | hope this answers your question. Please have a Happy Thanksgiving!

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
(including those terms provided for in Charter Section 4.1) shall be considered a full term for
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

[

From: M Kazan [mailto:mikazan@msn.com]

Sent: Friday, November 22, 2019 7:54 AM

To: Johnston, Sarah <Sarah.Johnston@citynmb.com>
Cc: Kazan-gm305 <mikazan305@gmail.com>
Subject: NMB eligible mayoral candidates

Sarah Johnson

City Attorney

City of North Miami Beach
Florida

November 22nd, 2019
Good morning Sarah.

Hope you are doing well. Happy Thanksgiving Greetings to you and
your family.

As per the current City NMB Charter, can you tell me please, among
our currently seven elected officials, which of the seven are currently
eligible to run for the office of the mayor for the City of North Miami
Beach come November 2020 if they choose to?

Which are the ones that are not eligible to be a mayoral candidate for





NMB 20207 If any, why not?
Sincerely,

Mubarak Kazan
NMB Resident

PLEASE NOTE: The City of North Miami Beach is a public entity subject to Chapter 119 of the Florida
Statutes concerning public records. E-mail messages are covered under such laws and thus subject
to disclosure. All e-mail sent and received is captured by our servers and kept as public record.






NMB Charter


Sec. 4.2 - Election and Term of Commission Members. 

A.  The members of the City Commission shall be elected from groups numbered One through Seven. The groups shall be elected Citywide by the qualified electors of the City of North Miami Beach. The member in Group One shall be the Mayor. At the City's general election on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November 2018 and at each general election every four years thereafter, the members of City Commission running from groups 2, 4, and 6 shall be elected for four (4) year terms. At the City's general election on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November 2020 and at each general election every four years thereafter, the members of City Commission running from groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 shall be elected for four (4) year terms. 


B.  Commencing with the 2011 general elections for groups 1, 3, 5, and 7 and with the 2013 general elections for groups 2, 4, and 6, no person may serve as Commissioner or Mayor or any combination thereof for more than two consecutive four-year terms, not including time served as a member of the Commission as a result of having filled a vacancy in the Commission pursuant to Section 4.5 of the North Miami Beach City Charter so long as such time served in filling a vacancy does not exceed 50% of that subject term. Service by a Commission member in excess of 50% of any term of office (including those terms provided for in Charter Section 4.1) shall be considered a full term for purposes of the term limit provisions in this section. After being out-of-office for two (2) years, he/she may run again. Members of the Commission shall serve until their successors are elected and qualified. 


C.  Notwithstanding the above, if a person is elected to 2 consecutive terms and has not met the term limit under the 50% provision in subsection B, he/she may only be elected to one additional term (regardless of that person's length of service in that additional term) for completion of that particular term limit, after which time or unless he/she is out of office for 2 years in which case he/she may run again for the term limit. 


Sec. 4.5 - Vacancies. 

Vacancies in elective offices of the City of North Miami Beach shall be filled by the City Commission pending the next general election, at which time an election to fill the vacancy shall be held for any remainder of the unexpired term. Provided, however, that should any vacancy occur more than one year prior to the next general election, the Commission shall have no power to fill the same; it shall be filled by a special election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, to be held not less than 35 days nor more than 90 days after such vacancy has occurred, except that if the vacancy is due to a resignation and a City or County-wide election is scheduled to be held during the intervening period from the resignation's filing date with the City Clerk up to and including the resignation's effective date, the special election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term as of the resignation's effective date may occur (subject to consent of the County Elections Department and City's ability to comply with laws concerning time periods for calling elections) at either such City or County-wide election. Any person who has been appointed or elected to fill a vacancy due to resignation filed pursuant to Florida Statute section 99.012 shall be installed and take office following the date the resigning official would take office, if elected; any person who has been appointed or elected to fill a vacancy due to resignation not filed pursuant to Florida Statute section 99.012 shall be installed and take office following the effective date set forth in said resignation. Provisions related to a Special Election called pursuant to this section, including the qualifying period, shall be established in the City Resolution calling the Special Election. 



